RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON **CLERK'S OFFICE**  Feb 01, 2017, 1:51 pm RECEIVED ELECTRONIC ELY Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 74264-7-I

••

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**ROBERT AND DORIS CUMMINGS, husband and wife,** 

Petitioners,

vs.

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES OF WASHINGTON; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., AND DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST CO., AS TRUSTEE IN TRUST FOR THE REGISTERED CERTIFICATE HOLDERS OF FIRST FRANKLIN MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST, ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES SERIES 2006-FF8

Respondents.

#### **APPELLANTS CUMMINGS' PETITION FOR REVIEW**

James A. Wexler Attorney-at-Law, WSBA #7411 2700 NW Pine Cone Drive, Suite 314 Issaquah, Washington 98027 206-849-9455; <u>wex@seanet.com</u>



### TABLE OF CONTENTS

۰۰.

.

I	IDE	NTITY OF PETITIONER1		
11	τοι	URT OF APPEALS DECISION1		
III	ISSU	JES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1		
IV	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE1		
V	ARGUMENT4			
	А.	<ul> <li>Acceptance of Review4</li> <li>1. Significant question of law under Constitution4</li> <li>2. Issue of substantial public interest5</li> </ul>		
	B.	Brown is basis of appellate court decision5		
	C.	Transfer of right to enforce note does nottransfer note or security for note		
	D.	RCW 62A.9A-20313		
	E.	Brown irreconcilably conflicts with RCW 62A.3-310 and therefore potentially violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine15		
VI	CON	CLUSION18		
VII	APPI	ENDICES		

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

٠٠,

### CASE LAW

### STATE STATUTES

#### **RCW CHAPTER 61.24**

(1)	RCW 61.24.0052, 4
(2)	RCW 61.24.0103
(3)	RCW 61.24.0302, 4
(4)	RCW 61.24.0404
(5)	RCW 61.24.0804, 15
(6)	RCW 61.24.1004
(6)	RCW 61.24.1635
	RCW CHAPTER 62A.1
(1)	RCW 62A.1-20111, 13
	RCW CHAPTER 62A.3
(1)	RCW 62A.3-30111
(2)	RCW 62A.3-3101, 5, 8, 13, 14
(4)	RCW 62A.3-60413
	RCW CHAPTER 62A.9A
(1)	RCW 62A.9A-10213, 14
(2)	RCW 62A.9A-2031, 5, 8, 13, 14

,

(3)	RCW 62A.9A-313	14	ł
-----	----------------	----	---

۰ ،

### CASE LAW

1.	Bartlett Estate Co. v. Fairhaven Land Co., 49 Wash. 58, 63, 94 P. 900 (1908)7
2.	<i>Brand v. Smith</i> , 99 Mich. 395, 401, 58 N.W. 363 (1894)8
3.	<i>Brown v. Dept. of Commerce</i> , 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015)1, 2, 4, 8, 10, 15
4.	<i>Gilmore v. Westerman,</i> 13 Wash. 390, 395, 43 P. 345 (1896)7
5.	Peters v. St. Louis & I.M.R. Co., 24 Mo. 586 (1857)7
6.	Sepp v. McCann, 47 Minn. 364, 366 (1891)7
7.	<i>State ex rel. Robinson v. Fluent</i> , 30 Wn.2d 194, 220, 191 P.2d 241, 255 (1948)15
	MISCELLANEOUS AUTHORITY
1.	Official Comment 9 to UCC § 9-2038, 14
2.	Washington Constitution, Article II, Section 1
<i>3</i> .	<i>Official Comment 3 to UCC § 3-310</i> 13, 16
4.	RAP 13.4(b)4
5.	Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1979)7, 9

#### **I IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

• • •

Robert and Doris Cummings ask this court to accept review of the court of appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

#### II COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners request this court review the Unpublished Opinion ("Opinion") issued and filed by the Court of Appeals on November 28, 2016, and the order denying Petitioners' motion for reconsideration ("Order") issued and filed on January 3, 2017. A copy of the Opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-15. A copy of the Order is in the Appendix at page A-16.

#### III ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court's decision in *Brown v. Dept. of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015) irreconcilably and unconstitutionally conflicts with RCW 62A.3-310 and therefore must be overturned.

2. Whether this Court's decision in Brown irreconcilably and unconstitutionally conflicts with RCW 62A.9A-203 and therefore must be overturned.

3. Whether this Court's decision in Brown irreconcilably and unconstitutionally conflicts with provisions of the Washington Deeds of Trust Act ("DTA") and therefore must be overturned.

1

#### IV STATEMENT OF THE CASE

• •.

On April 12, 2006, First Franklin, a division of National City Bank of Indiana ("FF"), originated a mortgage loan on behalf of Petitioner. The loan consisted of a note ("Note") and deed of trust ("DOT"), both executed on or about April 12, 2006. *CP 408*. The Note and DOT named FF the lender, and the DOT named First American Title the trustee and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") the beneficiary. *Id.* FF recorded the DOT in the Snohomish County Auditor's Office on April 28, 2006. *Id.* 

FF, the only entity that has ever acknowledged MERS as its *nominee*, went out of business in 2007. Accordingly, MERS could not have been acting as nominee for FF when MERS attempted to assign the Note and DOT to the Deutsche Bank National Trust Co., as Trustee for the Registered Certificate holders of First Franklin Mortgage Loan Trust, Asset-Backed Securities Series 2006-FF8 ("Trust") on October 6, 2011.

On July 26, 2009, several amendments to the Washington Deeds of Trust Act ("DTA") became law. One of those amendments -- RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) -- requires the *trustee* to have proof the *beneficiary* is the *owner* of the note secured by the DOT before recording, transmitting, or serving a notice of trustee's sale ("NOTS");<sup>1</sup> and authorizes the *trustee* to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In *Brown*, this court, making no attempt to harmonize the "Beneficiary" language in RCW 61.24.005(2) with the beneficiary language in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), decided the language in the two subparts could not be reconciled. After making that decision, the court analyzed the two subparts separately to determine which entity, the holder or owner, had the right to foreclose. After rigorous, but incorrect, analysis, the court decided that the <u>ownership</u> language in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and several other sections of the DTA should be ignored when determining who is entitled to foreclose. This

accept a declaration that contains language approved in .030(7)(a) from a beneficiary as *proof of ownership*.<sup>2</sup>

۰.

On October 6, 2011, MERS *attempted* to assign Plaintiffs' DOT (without the Note) to the Trust. *CP 410*.

Approximately September 23, 2014, Select Portfolio Servicing, LLP ("SPS"), claiming to be the attorney-in-fact for the Trust, *attempted* to appoint NWTS the successor trustee.<sup>3</sup> *CP 418*. Neither SPS nor NWTS ever provided proof SPS was the Trust's authorized agent. There is no evidence in the trial court record NWTS was ever lawfully appointed the successor trustee.

On August 27, 2014 and again on September 5, 2014, SPS allegedly delivered *beneficiary declarations* to NWTS. *CP 319, 321*. Also on September 16, 2014, SPS attempted to appoint NWTS the successor trustee. The *attempted appointment* was recorded on September 23, 2014.

decision was an abdication of the court's responsibility to harmonize language in a statutory scheme if it is possible to do so. *King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Board*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 560 (2000). The language is easily harmonized if one understands the laws of this state, and the DOT itself, require one to be both the *holder and owner* of the note to foreclose.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The most important phrase in the second sentence of .030(7)(a) is the prepositional phrase, "proof as required under this subsection." The noun "proof" and its prepositional modifier "as required under this subsection," considered together, are an unmistakable reference to the "*proof-of-ownership-of-the-note*" requirement in the first sentence of (7)(a). Consequently, the two sentences of (7)(a) are in <u>harmony</u> with one another, not conflict. The focus of both sentences is on obtaining "proof" the beneficiary is the *owner* of the note. One can arrive at a different conclusion only by ignoring the prepositional phrase – a grammatical and legal-interpretation misstep.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Even if SPS was Deutsche's agent when SPS attempted to appoint NWTS the successor trustee (there is no evidence SPS was acting as Deutsche's agent), RCW 61.24.010(2) does not authorize an agent to appoint a successor trustee; even if Deutsche was a lawful beneficiary, which it was not.

On September 24, 2014, NWTS, acting as the purported successor trustee, issued a notice of default ("NOD") to Plaintiffs. *CP 325 – 327*. On November 11, 2014, NWTS recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale ("NOTS") that set a sale date of March 13, 2015.*CP 329 – 332*.

۰.

Several days before the sale, Plaintiffs sent NWTS a letter. The letter explained that the sale was being conducted in violation of numerous provisions of the DTA and requested that NWTS conduct a cursory investigation to determine whether allegations in the letter were valid. Plaintiffs received no response to the letter, and Plaintiffs' home was sold on March 13, 2015. This lawsuit followed.

On or about March 27, 2015, NWTS filed a Motion to Dismiss ("Motion") Plaintiffs' lawsuit against NWTS. *CP* 272 – 288. That motion was heard by this Court on April 16, 2015. *CP* 270 – 271. After the hearing, the Court granted Defendant Trust's motion to dismiss. *Id.* Several months later the remaining Defendants jointly moved for dismissal. There motion was granted on October 27, 2015. *CP* 9 – 10.

The appeal that is the subject of this Petition followed.

After briefing was completed and the court heard oral arguments, the appellate court affirmed the lower court rulings on November 28, 2016.

This Petition was timely filed.

#### V ARGUMENT

A. Acceptance of Review authorized by RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

1. Significant question of law under Constitution.

۰.,

The appellate court's ruling is founded on Brown v. Dept. of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015). That decision irreconcilably conflicts with numerous legislative enactments – RCW 61.24.005(2), RCW 61.24.030(3), and (7)(a), RCW 61.24.040(1)(f), RCW 61.24.080(2), RCW 61.24.100(3)(a)(i) (rents, insurance proceeds, or condemnation award belong to the beneficiary as defined under the DTA). In Brown, the person who would have been entitled to all those sums was Freddie Mac, not M & T Bank),<sup>4</sup> RCW 61.24.163(5)(c), RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3) and RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), (g) – in an area (regulation of commercial activity in Washington) in which Article II, Section 1 of the Washington Constitution grants the legislature plenary authority, subject to constitutional limitations. The Brown decision therefore is potentially violates the separation of powers doctrine. Because the Brown decision affects every foreclosure that occurs in the state, and will continue to do so if the decision is in force, the constitutional conflict is worthy of this Court's deliberation.

#### 2. Issue of substantial public interest.

The *Brown* decision affects the way every foreclosure proceeding in Washington is conducted. Therefore, every foreclosure proceeding in Washington will be affected whether the decision is repealed or allowed to remain in force. This case is of substantial public interest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This court says so in *Brown*. Brown, 184 Wn.2d at 524.

# B. Security follows note doctrine is basis of appellate court decision.

The appellate court states:

۰.,

"First, this court and the supreme court have both held that the holder of a promissory note is the person entitled to enforce that obligation. (fn. Omitted) Ownership of the note is irrelevant to the power to enforce that note. (fn. Omitted) Second, the holder of the note has the power to enforce the deed of trust because the deed of trust follows the note by opcration of law. In Bain v. Mctropolitan Mortg. Grp., Inc., the supreme court explained that the Deeds of Trust Act "contemplates that the security instrument will follow the note, not the other way around." This statement is consistent with well-settled law.

"These two principles demonstrate that the holder of the note is entitled to enforce both it and the deed of trust securing it. Here, it is undisputed that Deutsche Bank had possession of the note, which was indorsed in blank, at all times material to this matter. Accordingly, it is the holder of the note, which gives it the power to enforce it. The deed of trust follows the note. Accordingly, Deutsche Bank also has the power to enforce the deed of trust, by operation of law.

Because Deutsche Bank has possession of both the note and deed of trust with the power to enforce both, it has established a prima facie case that it is entitled to summary judgment. The burden shifts to the Cummings to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact.

Opinion, at 7-8.

The appellate court's decision is based on one well known, widelyaccepted legal principle (the holder of the note is entitled to enforce the note) and one recently created, historically non-existent legal concept (the security follows the <u>right to enforce</u> the note). Since the appellate court's decision is based on the applicability of both the well-accepted legal principle <u>and</u> the historically non-existent legal concept, the appellate court's holding is incorrect, notwithstanding this court's decisions in *Brown* and *Bain*.

- C. Transfer of right to enforce note does not transfer note or security for note.
  - 1. Security follows note.

۰.

As amply demonstrated by Washington court foreclosure decisions, Washington courts understand neither the nature of a mortgage loan transaction nor the true meaning of the *security follows the note* doctrine. The doctrine means precisely what it says. The security follows a *transfer of <u>the note</u>*. A transfer of the <u>right to enforce</u> a note <u>is not</u> a transfer of <u>the note</u>. It is a transfer of <u>one of the rights associated with the</u> <u>note</u>.

In or out of the hands of a note owner, a note is a *right to payment*. In the hands of a note holder, a note is a *right to enforce a right to payment*. As the doctrine indicates, the security follows the note (the right to payment), *a right that belongs to the owner of the note*. The centuries-old security follows the note doctrine *does not state* (and *does not mean*) the security follows the *right to enforce* the note (the *right to enforce* the right to payment). Accordingly, transfer of PETE status, absent a simultaneous transfer of ownership of the note, does not transfer the right to enforce the DOT.

The security follows a transfer of the *note itself* has been the meaning of the *security follows the note* doctrine all over the United States for centuries. *Gilmore v. Westerman*, 13 Wash. 390, 395, 43 P. 345

7

(1896); Sepp v. McCann, 47 Minn. 364, 366 (1891) (It is a general rule that all securities for a debt<sup>5</sup> pass as incidents to it, upon an assignment<sup>6</sup> of it, unless the contrary intention appear); Peters v. St. Louis & I.M.R. Co., 24 Mo. 586 (1857); Bartlett Estate Co. v. Fairhaven Land Co., 49 Wash. 58, 63, 94 P. 900 (1908); Brand v. Smith, 99 Mich. 395, 401, 58 N.W. 363 (1894).

#### 2. Brown conflicts with Article II, Section 1.

RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), (g), a statute constitutionally-enacted by the Washington legislature, enshrines the centuries-old version of the security follows the note doctrine. *See Official Comment 9 to UCC § 9-203.* Properly read, RCW 62A.9A-203 indicates the security follows a transfer of *ownership* of the note and of the underlying mortgage debt for which the note is taken as payment.<sup>7</sup> Thus, if Article 9 applies to this case, and it does, Respondent is not entitled to foreclose because it neither

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Notice, the security passes with the "<u>debt</u>." The note is not the debt. Just as a personal check is the mutually agreed upon method of paying for groceries purchased in a grocery store transaction, a promissory note is the method of paying for money borrowed – money purchased -- in a mortgage loan transaction. Under the UCC, there is no difference in the way the two transactions are treated. See RCW 62A.3-310(b)(1), (2), and (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Black's Law Dictionary defines the word "Assignment" as "A transfer or making over to another of the whole of any property, real or personal . . . . The transfer by a party to all of its right to some kind of property . . . ." Black's Law Dictionary (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1979, at 109. In the absence of the transfer of ownership of a note, transfer of the right to enforce the note is not the transfer of all of the rights in the note.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> An entity that holds the note, but does not own the note it holds, has zero interest in the underlying mortgage debt. The DOT exists to secure repayment of the underlying mortgage debt in the event the borrower fails to honor the covenants and agreements of the note. This court's decision in Brown gave an entity (M & T Bank) that had zero interest in the underlying mortgage debt, and that was not a party or an intended third-party beneficiary to the DOT contract, the right to enforce the DOT contract, while simultaneously refusing to give that right to an entity that owned the underlying mortgage debt, and that was a party to the DOT contract. That decision stands 1000 years of western jurisprudence on its head and cannot be right.

alleged nor proved it was the *owner* of the beneficial interest in the note or in the underlying mortgage debt for which the note was taken as payment.

۰.

The *Brown* decision conflicts with a statutory pronouncement of the Washington legislature in an area – regulation of commercial activity in Washington – in which the Washington Constitution gives plenary authority to the legislature. *Washington Constitution, Article II, Section 1. Brown* must yield.

# 3. DOT requires beneficiary of DOT to be owner and holder of note.

In exchange for the money lent, <u>every</u> Lender acquires five essential interests at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction.

First, every DOT, including the DOT under consideration in this case, secures only the Lender, the Lender's Successor, or the Lender's Assignee. A Successor (*Black's Law Dictionary* ([5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1979], at 1283) or an Assignce (*Id.*, at 109) acquires <u>all the interests of its predecessor in</u> interest (the Lender).<sup>8</sup>

If there are common interests all lenders acquire at the close of all mortgage loan transactions, and if those common interests can be identified, then figuring out who is the beneficiary of the DOT becomes a very simple task. Simply compare the interests the foreclosing entity possesses against the interests all lenders acquire at the close of all mortgage loan transactions. If the foreclosing entity possesses <u>all</u> the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Trust may or may not have all the interests of its predecessor, but it did not allege or prove it had the ownership interest. Accordingly, the Trust did not allege a claim upon which relief could be granted, and did not prove its case.

interests <u>all</u> lenders acquire at the close of <u>all</u> mortgage loan transactions, then the foreclosing entity is legally entitled to foreclose. If, on the other hand, the foreclosing entity possesses less than <u>all</u> the interests <u>all</u> lenders acquire at the close of <u>all</u> mortgage loan transactions, then the foreclosing entity is not legally entitled to foreclose. It really is that simple.

•

Not one of the Washington cases which opines that the holder of a note, regardless of ownership of the note, is entitled to forcelose, including *Brown*, makes any effort to determine whether there are essential interests <u>all</u> lenders acquire at the close of <u>all</u> mortgage loan transactions. There are.

# 4. Five Interests acquired by <u>Every</u> Lender at the Close of <u>Every</u> Mortgage Loan Transaction.

At the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction the Lender acquires five essential interests. First, the mortgage debt created by the Borrower's acceptance of the Loan becomes the Lender's property. Consequently, the first interest that <u>every</u> Lender acquires at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction is <u>ownership of a debt</u>.

Second, the Borrower issues a mortgage note in payment of the mortgage debt<sup>9</sup> created by the Borrower's acceptance of the loan.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This is another issue about which the courts are confused. The wealth of *security-follows-the-transfer-of-the-right-to-enforce-the-note* cases unanimously suggest, or explicitly state, that the note is the debt obligation secured by the DOT. This belief is nonsensical! The note is not the debt secured by the DOT. In fact, it is the opposite of the debt secured by the DOT. The note is the mutually agreed upon method of *paying the mortgage debt. See RCW 62A.3-310(b) and (b)(2).* 

The performance of the covenants and agreements of the note is secured as the method of paying the underlying mortgage debt. However, the only <u>debt</u> that is secured by the DOT is the underlying mortgage debt. The failure to distinguish between the obligation to pay the note (the mutually agreed upon method of paying the underlying

Possession of that mortgage note is transferred to the Lender when the loan closes. Hence, in addition to acquiring ownership of the underlying mortgage debt, the Lender acquires <u>ownership</u> of the mortgage note that is taken in payment of the underlying mortgage debt at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction. Ownership of the mortgage note is the second interest that <u>every</u> Lender acquires at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction.

۰.

Third, the Lender takes possession of the note at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction. The note that the Lender takes possession of is made payable to the Lender. Therefore, at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction, the Lender takes possession of a mortgage note that is made payable to an identified person that is the Lender. Consequently, pursuant to RCW 62A.1-201(b)(21)(A), at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction, the Lender becomes the *holder of the note*. *Holder of the note* status is the third interest that <u>every</u> Lender acquires at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction.

Finally, as *holder of the note*, pursuant to RCW 62A.3-301, the Lender is *the person entitled to enforce* the note -- the PETE. PETE status is the fourth essential interest that <u>every</u> Lender acquires at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction.

mortgage debt) and the separate obligation to pay the underlying mortgage debt for which the note is taken as payment is a significant contributor to the glaringly obvious confusion this Court exhibited in *Brown v. Dept. of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015).

The Fifth essential interest is acquired as the result of the Lender's acquisition of the other four. The fifth essential interest <u>every</u> Lender acquires at the close of <u>every</u> mortgage loan transaction is the designation as *Beneficiary of the DOT*.

۰.,

A Successor or an Assignee always *acquires* the <u>entire interest</u> of its predecessor in interest in the thing transferred. And a DOT, including the DOT under consideration in this case, <u>never</u> secures anyone other than a Lender, a Successor Lender, or an Assignee Lender. See TRANSFER OF RIGHT IN THE PROPERTY Section and ¶ 13 of the DOT. Therefore, the person secured by the DOT (i.e., the Beneficiary of the DOT) will <u>always</u> possess the first four interests identified in the preceding paragraphs of this Section 4. It is the possession of these four interests that makes one the beneficiary of the DOT.

The revelations providing in the preceding paragraphs of this Section 4 are so important to the correct analysis of a forcelosure case that they deserve to be emphasized. So, I will repeat them. Since both a Successor and an Assignee always *acquires* the <u>entire interest</u> of its predecessor in interest in the thing transferred, and a DOT <u>never</u> secures anyone other than a Lender, a Successor Lender, or an Assignee Lender, the person secured by the DOT (i.e., the Beneficiary of the DOT), whether it be the Lender, the Successor Lender, or the Assignee Lender, will <u>always</u> possess the four interests identified in the preceding paragraphs of this Section 4.

12

Given the above analysis, it should now be apparent that the *person entitled to foreclose* will always be the person who <u>both holds and</u> <u>owns the note</u>, and who <u>owns the underlying mortgage debt for which the</u> <u>note is taken as payment</u>. A person who merely holds the note lacks two of the interests the person is required to possess to be the Beneficiary of the DOT: (1) *ownership* of the note; and (2) *ownership* of the underlying mortgage debt for which the note lacks two the notes and (2) *ownership* of the underlying mortgage debt for which the note is taken as payment. See RCW 62A.3-310(b) and (b)(2), and Official Comment 3 to UCC § 3-310.

Paragraph 22 of the DOT requires the *Lender* (or the *Successor* or *Assignee Lender*) to give notice of default to the borrower in the event of borrower's breach of any covenants or agreements in the DOT. If the default is not cured per the requirements of paragraph 22, the *Lender* is authorized to invoke the power of sale. Under paragraph 22, only the *Lender* – the owner of the debt is authorized to declare a default. The problem is under RCW 62A.3-604, only the PETE is legally authorized to declare a note in default. Thus, when the Lender voluntarily separates PETE status from ownership of the note (and of the debt the note was given in payment of), the right to foreclose does not survive the separation. *See Official Comment 3 to UCC, § 3-310.* 

#### D. RCW 62A.9A-203 conflicts with Article II, Section 1.

RCW 62A.9A-203(a) states a security interest (ownership interest (See RCW 62A.1-201[b][35]) attaches to collateral (a mortgage note [RCW 62A.9A-102(a)(12)(B)]) when the ownership interest in the mortgage note becomes enforceable against the debtor (the seller of the mortgage note [RCW 62A.9A-102(a)(28)(B)]).

Further, RCW 62A.9A-203(b) states that a security interest (ownership interest [See RCW 62A.1-201(b)(35)]) in collateral (a mortgage note [RCW 62A.9A-102(a)(12)(B)]) becomes enforceable against the world the instant three conditions have been met: (1) "value" has been given for the note (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][1]); (2) the seller has rights in the note or the power to transfer rights in the note to a purchaser (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][2]); and (3) either (a) the debtor (the seller of the note [RCW 62A.9A-102(a)(28)(B)]) has signed a security agreement (a security agreement is an agreement that creates or provides for a security interest (RCW 62A.9A-102[a][74]) that provides a description of the note (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][3][A]), or (b) pursuant to the terms of the debtor's security agreement, is possessed by someone other than the secured party (the purchaser of the note [RCW 62A.9A-102(a)(73)(D)]) under RCW 62A.9A-313 solely for the purchaser's benefit (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][3][B]). See RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(3)(A) and (B) and RCW 62A.9A-313.

RCW 62A.9A-203(g) -- and this is very important because courts have been completely misinformed about the true meaning of the "security follows the note doctrine -- is the codification of the common law "security follows the note" doctrine. *See Official Comment 9 to UCC §9-*203. Under 9A-203(g), the DOT is automatically transferred if, *and only* 

14

*if*, the Note is transferred pursuant to 9A-203(a) and (b). That is, the DOT follows a transfer of *ownership of the Note*.

Under 9A-203(a), (b), and (g), a transfer of holder status alone carries the right to enforce the note, but not the right to enforce the DOT. The DOT secures repayment of the underlying mortgage, not payment of the note.<sup>10</sup> Consequently, the *Brown* decision and RCW 62A.9A-203, a constitutional enactment of the Washington legislature, are in irreconcilable conflict with one another, creating an Article II, Section 1 constitutional conflict.

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