# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 17, 2017, 1:57 pm

# RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court Case No. 94093-2

Court of Appeals Case No. 74264-7-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### **ROBERT AND DORIS CUMMINGS**

Appellant,

v.

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC. et al.

Respondents.

# RESPONDENT NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted By:
Joshua S. Schaer, WSBA No. 31491
RCO LEGAL, P.S.
13555 S.E. 36<sup>th</sup> St., Suite 300
Bellevue, WA 98006
(425) 457-7810

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY

Respondent Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") hereby answers the Petition for Review of Appellants Robert and Doris Cummings as follows below.

#### II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

NWTS requests that the Washington Supreme Court decline to accept review of the unpublished decision in *Cummings v. NWTS*, 2016 WL 68952623 (Div. 1, Nov. 28, 2016).

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual History.

On or about April 12, 2006, in consideration for a mortgage loan, Appellants executed a promissory note (the "Note") in the amount of \$240,000, payable to First Franklin a division of National City Bank of Indiana. CP 287-290.

Appellants also executed a Deed of Trust securing repayment of the Note. CP 292-311. The recorded Deed of Trust encumbered a piece of real property commonly known as 21603 54<sup>th</sup> Ave. W., Mountlake Terrace, WA 98043 (the "Property"). CP 294.

On or about October 6, 2011, an Assignment of Deed of Trust in favor of Deutsche Bank National Trustee Company, as Trustee, in trust for

the registered Certificateholders of First Franklin Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-FF8, Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-FF8 (the "Loan Trust") was recorded with the Snohomish County Auditor. CP 313-314.

On or about August 27, 2014, an unambiguous beneficiary declaration was executed, stating that the Loan Trust was the actual holder of the Note, and the Note had not been "assigned or transferred to any other person or entity." CP 316.

On or about September 5, 2014, another unambiguous beneficiary declaration was executed, *again* stating that the Loan Trust was the actual holder of the Note. CP 318.

On September 16, 2014, an Appointment of Successor Trustee, naming NWTS as Successor Trustee and vesting NWTS with the powers of the original trustee, was recorded with the Snohomish County Auditor. CP 320.

On or about September 24, 2014, as a result of Appellants'

November 2010 default on payments due under the secured Note, they

were sent a Notice of Default. CP 322-324.

On November 5, 2014, a Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded with the Snohomish County Auditor, setting a sale date of March 13, 2015 for the Property. CP 326-330. Appellants failed to seek a restraining

order to prevent the sale from occurring, and on March 13, 2015, the Property was sold at auction. CP 332-333.

#### B. Procedural History.

On March 20, 2015, Appellants filed an Amended Complaint that became the operative pleading in the action. CP 403-423. Appellants readily admitted that the foreclosure was proper, but they disputed who should have conducted the process. CP 417.

On April 1, 2015, NWTS moved to dismiss all claims in the Amended Complaint pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). CP 269-333. Appellants did not submit a written response to this motion.<sup>1</sup>

On April 16, 2015, after hearing oral argument, the Hon. Marybeth Dingledy of the Snohomish County Superior Court granted NWTS' Motion to Dismiss. CP 267-268. On June 4, 2015, Judge Dingledy also denied Appellants' reconsideration request. CP 145-146.

Appellants immediately attempted to seek review from Division One of the Court of Appeals, but because there had not been a final judgment, the case was remanded for further proceedings. Case No. 73707-4-I, Notation Ruling (Sept. 9, 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> No response brief is found in the record because none was filed.

On October 27, 2015, the Hon. Millie Judge of the Snohomish

County Superior Court granted summary judgment to Mortgage Electronic

Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") and the Loan Trust. CP 6-8.

On November 12, 2015, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal. CP 1-5.

On November 28, 2016, Division One issued an unpublished decision confirming NWTS was not subject to the appeal, and affirming the trial court's summary judgment ruling in favor of MERS and the Loan Trust. On January 3, 2017, Division One denied Appellants' reconsideration motion.

#### IV. RESPONSE ARGUMENT

# A. Standard of Review.

The discretionary acceptance of a decision terminating review may only be granted based on the criteria set forth in R.A.P. 13.4(b).

Appellants contend there is a "significant question of law" and "issue of substantial public interest." Petition for Review at 5. However, the record does not support either basis.

# B. NWTS Was Not a Proper Litigant to the Appeal.

As a threshold matter, Appellants conspicuously omit mention of their failure to comply with R.A.P. 2.4(a), which rendered NWTS'

dismissal not subject to appellate review.

As the Court of Appeals observed, "[t]he notice of appeal dated November 11, 2015 designates only the order granting summary judgment to MERS and Deutsche Bank. It neither designates nor refers to the prior order dismissing NWTS." Opin. at \*4.

Appellants' previous attempt to seek discretionary review of NWTS' dismissal, before all defendants obtained dismissal orders, had "no effect upon consideration of a later appeal from a final judgment unless designated in that later appeal." *Id.* at \*5, *citing State v. Thorne*, 39 Wn.2d 63, 65, 234 P.2d 528 (1951). Moreover, the order in favor of NWTS was not entwined with the subsequent order granting dismissal to MERS and Deutsche Bank, meaning review could also not be obtained under R.A.P. 2.4(b). *Id.* at \*5, *citing Right-Price Recreation, LLC v. Connells Prairie Cmty. Council*, 146 Wn.2d 370, 380, 46 P.3d 789 (2002).

Because of Appellants' procedural error, there is no reason to subject NWTS to further litigation in this case.

#### C. Appellants' Claims Were Also Meritless.

Essentially, the Petition for Review argues that this Court's unanimous decision in *Brown v. Wash. Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 543, 359 P.3d 771 (2015), was incorrect and NWTS should be held

liable for foreclosing in the name of the Note holder, instead of the Note's "owner."

But the right to foreclose is strictly vested with a note's *holder* because Washington law recognizes the general principle that a security instrument (Deed of Trust) follows the debt (Note) with or without formal assignment. *See*, *e.g.*, *Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 177, 367 P.3d 600 (2016) ("Washington courts have long recognized that the security instrument follows the note that it secures.").

Brown correctly states a holder – and not the owner – is entitled to enforce a note through non-judicial foreclosure of property that secures repayment of the note as collateral. 184 Wn.2d at 543. Under the DTA, "[o]wnership of the note is not dispositive." *Trujillo v. NWTS*, 181 Wn. App. 484, 498, 326 P.3d 768 (2014), as modified (Nov. 3, 2014), rev'd on other grounds, 183 Wn.2d 820, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015).

In the wake of *Brown*, courts have applied its holding to reject borrowers' claims just like the one pled below. *See*, *e.g.*, *Worm v. NWTS*, 2016 WL 6885907 (Div. 2, Nov. 22, 2016) (unpublished) (the "law in Washington is well settled" that only a holder can non-judicially foreclose); *Leonard v. Recontrust Co.*, *N.A.*, 2016 WL 304802, \*6 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 26, 2016) ("To the extent that they assert that the Washington

State Supreme Court's decision in *Brown* was 'wrongly decided' and that if properly decided Defendants would not have complied with the statute, their argument is without merit.").

In its unchallenged Motion to Dismiss, NWTS demonstrated that it possessed *two* substantive, unambiguous declarations approved of in *Brown*. CP 316, 318. The first declaration was even more specific and stated that the Note had "not been assigned or transferred to any other person or entity." CP 316.

Given this sufficient proof shown in the factual record of this case, which was within the scope of allegations pled for purposes of CR 12(b)(6), the DTA did not require NWTS to receive some other form of documentation prior to recording the Notice of Trustee's Sale and proceeding accordingly. *See*, *e.g. Bavand v. OneWest Bank*, 196 Wn. App. 813, 385 P.3d 233 (2016), *as modified* (Dec. 15, 2016) (finding no CPA liability when NWTS possessed an unequivocal beneficiary declaration); *McAfee v. Select Portfolio Serv., Inc.*, 193 Wn. App. 220, 228, 370 P.3d 25 (2016) (same).

//

//

//

# V. CONCLUSION

The decision in favor of NWTS below was not properly subject to review due to Appellants' omission of the trial court's order in their Notice of Appeal.

Moreover, this Court should reject Appellants' invitation to revisit *Brown*. There is neither a "significant question of law" nor "issue of substantial public interest" presented.

The Petition for Review must therefore be denied.